AGREEMENT

between the

CARPINTERIA ASSOCIATION OF UNITED SCHOOL EMPLOYEES LOCAL 2216 (CAUSE)

and the

CARPINTERIA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT CARPINTERIA, CALIFORNIA

July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2023

CLASSIFIED COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
PREAMBLE		3
ARTICLE 1.	RECOGNITION	3
ARTICLE 2.	STATEMENT OF DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY	3
ARTICLE 3.	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES	3
ARTICLE 4.	EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	6
ARTICLE 5.	PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS	7
ARTICLE 6.	COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS	8
ARTICLE 7.	HOURS	11
ARTICLE 8.	PROFESSIONAL GROWTH	14
ARTICLE 9.	TRANSFER AND FILLING OF VACANCIES	16
ARTICLE 10.	EVALUATION OF EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE	18
ARTICLE 11.	PERSONNEL FILES	19
ARTICLE 12.	LEAVE PROVISIONS	19
ARTICLE 13.	CAUSE RIGHTS	27
ARTICLE 14.	SAFETY	28
ARTICLE 15.	ALCOHOL AND DRUG ABUSE POLICY	30
ARTICLE 16.	TRAINING	33
ARTICLE 17.	RECLASSIFICATION PROCEDURE	35
ARTICLE 18.	LAYOFF AND REEMPLOYMENT FOLLOWING LAYOFF	35
ARTICLE 19.	CONCERTED ACTIVITIES	39
ARTICLE 20.	DISCIPLINARY ACTION	39
ARTICLE 21.	PAID HOLIDAYS	42
ARTICLE 22.	VACATIONS	44
ARTICLE 23.	NON-DISCRIMINATION	45
ARTICLE 24.	SAVINGS PROVISIONS	45
ARTICLE 25.	SUPPORT OF AGREEMENT	45
ARTICLE 26.	EFFECT OF AGREEMENT	45
ARTICLE 27.	COMPLETION OF MEET AND NEGOTIATION	46
ARTICLE 28.	TERM	46
ARTICLE 29.	ONBOARDING	46
APPENDIX A	A HARASSMENT POLICY	47
APPENDIX E	3 CLARIFICATION OF UNIT	51
	C CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE	
APPENDIX D	CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL	54

PREAMBLE

This is an Agreement made and entered into this May 25, 2023, between the Carpinteria Unified School District (hereinafter referred to as "District") and Local 2216 of the Carpinteria Association of United School Employees (hereinafter referred to as "CAUSE").

Article 1. RECOGNITION

The District recognizes CAUSE as the exclusive representative of a unit of classified employees. The classifications in this unit are set forth in Appendix B.

Article 2. STATEMENT OF DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY

It is understood and agreed that the District retains all of its powers and authority to direct, manage and control to the full extent of the law. Included in but not limited to those duties and powers are the exclusive right to: Determine its organization; direct the work of its employees; determine the time and hours of operation; determine the kinds and levels of services to be provided, and the methods and means of providing them; establish its educational policies, goals and objectives; insure the rights and educational opportunities of students; determine staffing patterns; determine the number and kinds of personnel required; maintain the efficiency of District operations; determine the curriculum; build, move or modify facilities; establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocation; determine the methods of raising revenue; contract out work; lay off for lack of work or lack of funds, transfer employees; and take action on any matters in the even of an emergency. In addition, the Board of Education and Administration retain the right to hire, classify, assign, evaluate, promote, terminate and discipline employees.

The exercise of the foregoing powers, right, authority, duties and responsibilities by the District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this AGREEMENT, and then only to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with law.

The District retains its right to amend, modify or rescind policies and practices referred to in this AGREEMENT in event of an emergency.

Article 3. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

- 3.1. The following definitions shall apply to the processing of grievances:
 - 3.1.1 A "grievance" is defined as a statement by an employee covered hereby, or CAUSE, that the District has violated an express term of this Agreement and that by reason of such violation his or her rights have been adversely affected.

Actions to challenge or change the policies of the District as set forth in the rules and regulations or administrative regulations and procedures must be undertaken

- under separate legal processes. Other matters for which a specific method of review is provided by law, by the rules and regulations of the District's board of trustees or by the administrative regulations and procedures of this District are not within the scope of this procedure.
- 3.1.2 A "day" is a day in which the central administrative office of the District is open for business.
- 3.1.3 The "immediate supervisor" is the lowest level supervisor having immediate jurisdiction over the grievant who has been designated by the District to adjust grievances.
- 3.2. By this grievance procedure, the parties intend to provide, at the lowest administrative level, a means by which a grievance may be resolved in an equitable, efficient manner in an atmosphere of courtesy and cooperation.
- 3.3. The parties hereto shall make an earnest effort to settle grievances promptly through the steps listed below:
 - 3.3.1 Step One: The grievant shall orally present the alleged grievance to his/her immediate supervisor, with or without the CAUSE representative being present.
 - 3.3.2 Step Two: If the grievance is not settled in Step One, the grievance shall be submitted in writing within twenty (20) days after the employee knew, or reasonably should have known, of the occurrence of the facts on which the grievance is based. Failure to file within this time waives the grievance for all purposes. The grievance may be filed by either the grievant and/or Association representative to the grievant's immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor shall meet with the grievant and/or a CAUSE representative within five (5) working days after presentation at Step Two. A resolution of the grievance should be summarized and signed by the grievant and the immediate supervisor, If the grievance is not settled, the immediate supervisor's response shall be provided in writing within five (5) days of the meeting.
 - 3.3.3 Step Three: If the grievance is not settled in Step Two, the employee may appeal the grievance to the Superintendent or his/her designee within ten (10) working days after the termination of Step Two. The District Superintendent or his/her designee shall meet, within five (5) working days after the filing of such appeal, with the grievant, and/or a Association representative. A decision shall be rendered
 - by the District Superintendent or his/her designee within five (5) working days from the date of such meeting.
 - 3.3.4 Step Four Mediation: If the grievance is not settled in Step Three or a decision not received within five (5) working days from the Superintendent or designee, CAUSE or the District, (after advising the other party), may initiate mediation. If neither the District nor CAUSE initiates mediation, the grievance shall be

continued at the arbitration stage of this process. Either the District or CAUSE may contact the State Mediation and Conciliation Service to schedule a date as soon as calendars can be coordinated. The parties will pay the cost for their own representatives. Cost of 1:1 mediator will be split 50%/50%. Both the District and CAUSE agree to participate in the mediation process in good faith and to utilize the Interest Based Conflict Resolution Process to seek options that meet the interests of both the District and the grievant.

- 3.3.5 Step Five Arbitration: If within a period of ten (10) days after receipt of the decision of the appropriate administrator, the grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered at Step Three or Four, and wishes to appeal the grievance further, he/she may, with the approval of CAUSE, submit in writing, to the Superintendent, an appeal for Arbitration. It is expressly understood that the only matters that are subject to Arbitration, are grievances as defined in Section 3.1.1, which were processed and handled in accordance with the limitations and procedures of this Article. Processing and discussing the merits of an alleged grievance by the District shall not constitute a waiver by the District of a defense that the dispute is not grievable.
 - a. Arbitrator If CAUSE and the Superintendent or designee fail to agree on the choice of an Arbitrator within five (5) days, the California State Conciliation Service or the American Arbitration Association will be requested to supply a list of seven (7) names. Each party will alternately strike from the list until only one name remains. The order of striking will be determined by flip of a coin.
 - b. It shall be the function of the Arbitrator to decide whether there has been a violation of the Agreement, and provide remedy if there has been a violation. The Arbitrator shall be subject to the following limitations:
 - (1) The Arbitrator shall have neither power nor authority to add to, subtract from, disregard, alter, or modify any of the terms of this Agreement or the written policies, rules, regulations or procedures of the District.
 - (2) The Arbitrator shall have neither power nor authority to establish or change the structure of the salary schedule or Responsibility Levels, or hourly rates of pay.
 - (3) The Arbitrator shall have neither power nor authority to make any decisions that require the commission of an act prohibited by law or which violates the terms of this Agreement.
 - (4) All costs for the services of the Arbitrator, including, but not limited to, per diem expenses, his/her travel and subsistence expenses, costs of any hearing room and recording and preparation and typing of any reports shall be borne equally by the District and CAUSE. All other expenses shall be borne by the

- parties incurring them and neither party shall be responsible for the expenses of the witnesses called by the other.
- (5) Either party may arrange for a reporter to record the hearing. The cost of service and the expense of such report shall be shared equally.
- (6) If the parties cannot agree upon a submission agreement, the Arbitrator shall determine the issues by referring to the written grievance and the answers thereto at each step.
- (7) The decision of the Arbitrator will be submitted to the District and CAUSE and it will be binding upon the parties to this Agreement.
- c. The Arbitrator shall have no power to render a decision on any grievance occurring before or after the term of this Agreement.
- 3.4. The written grievance shall state the following information at a minimum: the exact nature of the grievance, the act or acts complained of and when they occurred, the identity of the grievant or grievants, the specific section or provisions of this Agreement which the grievant or grievants claim the District has violated, and the remedy sought.
- 3.5. If a grievance is not processed by the employee in accordance with the time limits set forth in this Article, it shall be waived for all purposes and shall be considered settled. If the District fails to respond to the grievance in a timely manner at any step, the grievant may proceed to the next step.
- 3.6. The grievant shall be entitled upon request to representation by CAUSE at all grievance meetings beyond Step One. In situations where CAUSE has not been invited to represent the employee, the District shall not agree to a final resolution of the grievance until CAUSE has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed settlement and has been given the opportunity to file a response to the matter.
- 3.7. Waiver. The grievant or CAUSE and Superintendent/designee may mutually agree in writing to waive any step in this grievance procedure.
- 3.8. All documents dealing with this processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants.

Article 4. EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

The District and CAUSE recognize the right of employees to form, join and participate in lawful activities of employee organizations and the equal alternative right of employees to refuse to form, join or participate in employee organization activities.

Article 5. PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

- 5.1. The District will deduct from the pay of CAUSE members and pay to CAUSE the normal and regular monthly CAUSE membership dues as voluntarily authorized in writing by the employee.
- 5.2. Any unit member who is not a member of CAUSE, or who does not make application for membership within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this section or within thirty (30) days of the commencement of assigned duties shall pay a service fee to.
- 5.3. The obligation to pay a service fee may be met by a monthly deduction from employees salary, by the employees direct payment to using a method established by or if the classified employee is a religious objector, by complying with 5.7 and 5.8.
- 5.4. If a classified employee does not make application for membership within the prescribed time, make arrangements with CAUSE for direct payment of the service fee, or submit proof of payment to a charitable organization as provided herein below, has a responsibility to inform the classified employee of their contractual obligations under Government Code § 3546. If after proper notice the classified employee does not comply with the provisions of this Article and the law, then shall notify Superintendent and supply the District with proof of notice to the unit member. Upon receipt of such notice and proof the District shall withhold the service fee from the unit member's salary and submit such fee to .
- 5.5. The service fee shall equal an amount not to exceed the standard initiation fee, periodic dues and general assessments of CAUSE and shall be used only for those purposes permitted by law.
- 5.6. Any employee choosing to challenge the manner in which the chargeable portion of the service fee has been calculated shall do so according to the Service Fee Appeal Procedure Established by CAUSE pursuant to the regulations of the Public Employment Relations Board.
- 5.7. Notwithstanding the above, any employee who is a member of a religious body whose traditional tenets or teachings include objections to joining or financially supporting employee organizations shall not be required to join or pay a service fee. However, any employee who qualifies as a religious objector shall pay an amount equal to the service fee to any charitable organization with 501(c)(3) status that supports public education or the following organizations:
 - United Way
 - California PTA Scholarship Fund
 - Special Olympics
- 5.8. A classified employee paying an amount equal to the service fee to one of the organizations listed above shall submit proof of such payments each year of CAUSE. If such proof is not submitted in a timely manner, then upon receipt of notice and proof from CAUSE, the District shall implement the provisions of Article 5.4 above.

5.9. It is recognized that CAUSE, as exclusive representative of all employees, is required to represent all such employees fairly without regard to CAUSE membership or non-membership. However, any employee who holds religious objections pursuant to Article 5.7, who requests CAUSE to use the grievance procedure or arbitration procedure on his or her behalf, shall pay CAUSE for such representation. CAUSE may charge the classified member for the reasonable cost of using such procedure.

5.10. Remittance Of Funds

- 5.10.1 Funds deducted on behalf of CAUSE pursuant to this Article will be remitted to CAUSE within ten (10) working days of the close of the preceding pay period, provided the District shall not be responsible for delays beyond its control.
- 5.10.2 Such deduction shall be made only upon the submission of a duly executed and revocable authorization by the employee or otherwise as set out in 5.4 above.
- 5.10.3 The District shall not be obligated to put into effect any new, changed or discontinued deduction until the pay period commencing fifteen (15) days or more after such submission.
- 5.10.4 District must be provided thirty (30) day notice prior to the District implementing any changed payroll deduction.
- 5.11. CAUSE agrees that it will indemnify and hold harmless the District from attorneys' fees, costs, charges, fees, awards and damages arising out of any matter commenced against the District due to compliance by the District with its obligations hereunder. The District will notify CAUSE in writing of any matter within seven (7) days of service thereof upon the District. CAUSE may, at its discretion, determine whether to defend, settle in whole or in part or appeal the matter.

Article 6. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

- 6.1. Wages. The salary schedule shall be contained in Appendix C of this Agreement and updated as necessary based upon ratified agreements.
- 6.2. The Board of Education has the sole authority for reasons it deems appropriate, to grant additional compensation to individuals and/or groups beyond the regular salary schedule.

6.3. Stipends

6.3.1 The District agrees to pay a <u>five percent (5%) a three-thousand dollar</u> (\$3,000) annual bilingual stipend to positions within those classifications that

- are required to use a second language no less than twenty-five percent (25%) of the time. Those applying for the stipend must provide proof of fluency by passing the current examination provided bilingual classifications. Input from the site principal will be solicited to determine which positions require these stipends. The District currently believes the scope of the modification will be one clerical position at each school site.
- 6.3.2 Instructional assistants whose job descriptions don't contain the requirement for the performance of specialized health care procedures, and who have volunteered and been trained to perform those services will be paid a stipend of <a href="https://dollars.com/thirty-five-dollars.com/thir

6.4. Career Increments

- 6.4.1 A person who has attained permanent status in the classified service, who is employed not less than three (3) hours a day, five (5) days a week, and who has served in the employ of the Carpinteria Unified School District for the periods of time indicated in the schedule below shall be granted career increments applied to that unit member's base salary. (Base salary is the wage determined by step placement.):
 - a. On the 1st of July after the completion of year seven (7), there shall be a longevity increment of 3%.
 - b. On the 1st of July after the completion of year eleven (11) there shall be a longevity increment of 5%.
 - c. On the 1st of July after the completion of year fifteen (15), there shall be a longevity increment of 7%.
 - d. On the 1st of July after the completion of year nineteen (19), there shall be a longevity increment of 9%.
 - e. On the 1st of July after the completion of year twenty-three (23), there shall be a longevity increment of 11%.
 - f. On the 1st of July after the completion of year twenty-seven (27), there shall be a longevity increment of 13%.
 - g. On the 1st of July after the completion of year thirty-one (31), there shall be a longevity increment of 15%.
 - The percentages set out above are totals for that year and are not to be cumulative.

- 6.4.2 In determining eligibility for such career increments, the following leaves do not constitute a break in service:
 - a. Time spent on earned vacation, sick leave, bereavement leave, and industrial accident or illness leave for which salary benefits are provided by the District, and on military leave.
 - b. Authorized absences without salary for a period of thirty (30) workdays or less.
- 6.4.3 In determining eligibility for such career increments, the following do constitute a break in service:
 - a. Time served while on substitute or temporary assignments.
 - b. Service rendered in the employ of the school district, public agency, or public employer other than the Carpinteria Unified School District.
- 6.4.4 The service applicable toward career increment eligibility shall commence on the employment date.
- 6.5. Medical, Dental, And Optical Benefits. The District will provide full family medical insurance, family dental insurance, and family optical insurance. The District agrees to continue to pay the increased costs for the existing Blue Cross (PPO Plan 80-E) and Kaiser plans.

Classified employees who work for (4) or more hours shall be eligible for benefits with a district contribution prorated at the half hour on the basis for the assigned hours for the position.

6.6. The District agrees to allow employees, regardless of hours worked or seniority, to participate in the IRC 125.

6.7. **Retirement Options**

The Governing Board recognizes the valuable service provided by classified staff, especially, those who have served in the District for a number of years. In recognition of this service, the Board offers the following retirement options to classified retirees.

- 6.7.1 The retiree must have been an employee in the Carpinteria Unified School District for a minimum of 20 years to qualify.
- 6.7.2 The retiree must be at least 55 years old at the time of retirement and retire from the Carpinteria Unified School District.
- 6.7.3 The retiree must be on PERS (classified) retirement in order to obtain the benefits listed herein.

- 6.7.4 The retiree shall meet with the Superintendent or designee to discuss the options listed below and shall sign a retiree agreement prior to receiving any benefits.
- 6.7.5 Only retirees who retire when this policy is in effect shall qualify for these benefits.
- 6.7.6 Medical Benefit: The District shall pay the indicated amount toward a retiree's participation in the District medical plan for seven (7) years or to age sixty-five (65), whichever occurs first. If the indicated amount exceeds the premium, the District will pay the premium amount.

Years of Full-Time Service or the Equivalent for Part-time Service Yearly Amount Paid Toward Medical

20	\$10,000.00
25	\$15,000.00
30	Full

6.7.7 A retiree or future retiree may upon retirement advise the District whether he or she wants to continue in the District's medical plan or receive a direct payment of the indicated amount. A retiree shall accept the responsibility for any tax consequences resulting from his or her election to use funds, in the event they do not use the District plan.

Article 7. HOURS

- 7.1. The regular workweek of a full-time employee shall be forty (40) hours served over a seven (7) day period and the regular workday shall be eight (8) hours. Normally employees in the unit work Monday through Friday. The District retains the right to schedule employees work hours. The District may modify the permanent scheduling of work hours of employees without the requirement to negotiate should the modification be one hour or less. This restriction on the right of the District to reschedule hours is not intended to include revised schedules for bus drivers, revised schedules for special education aide hours driven by IEP requirements, or the temporary rescheduling of hours for specific District educational purposes. It is intended to require bargaining to institute or terminate a four (4) day workweek.
- 7.2. The District will provide compensation or compensatory time off at a rate equal to one and one-half (1-1/2) times the regular rate of pay for employees designated by the District and authorized to perform such overtime. Overtime is any time required to be worked in excess of eight (8) hours in any one workday or any time in excess of forty (40) hours in any calendar week. This provision does not apply to employees whose regular workday is less than eight (8) hours or whose workweek is less than forty (40) hours. For the purpose of computing the number of hours worked, time during which the employee is excused from work because of holidays, sick leave, vacation, compensated time off, or other paid leave of absence, shall be considered as time worked by the

employee. The designation, authorization and allocation of any overtime shall rest solely with the District management and shall not be subject to Article 3, "Grievance Procedure." District will use every reasonable effort to distribute overtime on an equitable basis taking into consideration the needs of the District. If an employee believes that overtime is not distributed equitably, he/she may report this to the Assistant Superintendent - Business Services, for investigation. If the employee disagrees with the results of the investigation, he/she may appeal within ten (10) days of notice of said results to the Superintendent for review. Compensatory time off shall be granted at the discretion of the District and taken not later than twelve (12) calendar months following the week in which the overtime was worked and at such times as determined by the District that will not impair the services rendered by the District. Unused compensatory time will be paid if not taken within a year.

- 7.3. Notwithstanding Section 7.1 and 7.2 of this Article, the workweek for any employee having an average workday of four (4) hours or more during the workweek shall consist of no more than five (5) consecutive working days. Such an employee shall be compensated for any work required to be performed on the sixth (6th) and seventh (7th) day following the commencement of the work week at a rate equal to one and one-half (1-1/2) times the regular rate of pay of the employee designated by the District and authorized to perform the work.
- 7.4. All employees who have been on duty for five (5) hours shall be entitled to a duty-free lunch period of no less than thirty (30) minutes per day.
- 7.5. All employees shall be entitled to the paid holidays as attached in Appendix A, provided the employees are in paid status during the working day immediately preceding or the working day succeeding the holiday.

Regular employees who are not normally assigned to duty during winter break shall be paid for those five (5) holidays provided that they were in paid status during the workday of their normal assignment immediately preceding or succeeding the Winter break.

When a holiday herein listed falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be deemed to be the holiday in lieu of the day observed. When a holiday herein listed falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be deemed to be the holiday in lieu of the day observed. When an employee is required to work on any said holiday, he shall be paid compensation, or given compensatory time off, for such work, in addition to regular pay received for the holiday, at the rate of time and one-half his regular rate of pay.

- 7.6. All full-time employees will be granted a rest period of fifteen (15) minutes for every four (4) hours of work, as scheduled by the District.
- 7.7. Employees shall accrue annual vacation at the regular rate of pay earned at the time the vacation is commenced according to the rules and regulations as set forth in Article 22.

Such vacation shall not become a vested right until completion of six (6) months' employment.

The scheduling of such vacation shall be within the sole discretion of the District management.

7.8. A regular full-time employee whose assignment requires him/her to work more than four (4) hours per day after 5:00 P.M. on a regular basis shall be entitled to a night shift differential in pay. Such differential shall be in the amount of 4-1/2% of his/her total regular salary for the period during which he/she qualifies.

For purposes of administration of this section, a twelve month employee whose assignment requires him/her to work a night shift during the period school is in session for the regular school year, but who works a day shift during the Spring, Christmas and Summer recesses shall be paid the differential for the months of October through June and shall be compensated at the regular rate for the months of July, August and September. Overtime, which is worked on the same date that a night shift is worked, shall include the differential; however day overtime work on any other day shall be at the regular overtime rate.

Occasional night assignments of personnel not regularly assigned to a night shift shall be compensated at the regular rate.

- 7.9. **Standby Time**: Bus drivers on special trips, including but not limited to athletic events, field trips, and curricular trips who are required to remain on duty for the duration of the event for which the special trip is made, shall be paid for all duty hours at their regular rate of pay. Whenever any combination of driving and duty hours in a day exceeds the established workday as defined in Section 7.1, all excess hours shall be compensated at the appropriate overtime rate based on the employee's regular pay rate.
- 7.10. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, if a special trip requires an overnight stay, the District shall be relieved of the obligation of payment for any hours between the time a bus driver is relieved of duty for the evening and the time duties resume the following morning.
- 7.11. If an employee is called back to work after the end of his/her regular shift, or called back on a Saturday or Sunday, he/she will receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay.
- 7.12. Bus drivers will be given first right of refusal to additional summertime custodial positions. Statutory benefits, vacation, and sick leave will be provided for this work.
- 7.13. When vacancies occur within the unit that offers additional hours the District will use the following process for filling those vacancies. For vacancies within a classification with more hours, criteria a, b, and e apply.
 - 7.13.1 The position shall be circulated internally for ten (10) working days prior to any outside advertising of the position. Internal circulation may include calling those who have within the last twelve (12) months filed with the District a written

statement indicating an interest in filling positions with a greater number of hours.

- 7.13.2 When more than one District employee indicates an interest in the position, the following criteria shall be utilized in filling the position, not necessarily in this order.
 - a. Current evaluations
 - b. Appropriate fit within the environment of the position
 - c. Principal/Supervisor of new position recommendation
 - d. Informal interview
 - e. Seniority (a tiebreaker if all things are otherwise equal)
- 7.13.3 Employees not selected may be entitled to a written reason upon request and may confidentially appeal that decision directly to the supervisor of the administrator making the decision.

Article 8. PROFESSIONAL GROWTH

- 8.1. The District agrees to a professional growth program of four (4) increments of \$300 per increment for a possible total of \$1,200.00. Each increment requires fifteen (15) units and each unit requires at least fifteen (15) hours of approved training.
- 8.2. There will be a professional growth committee composed of two (2) administrators appointed by District, two (2) classified employees appointed by CAUSE and a business administrator who shall be ex officio. It is intended that decisions will be made on the basis of consensus. However, should consensus not be reached, approval for professional growth programs will require a majority vote.
- 8.3. The approval of training programs or classes offered shall be based upon the degree to which the course or training will assist the employee to better perform existing job description requirements and/or facilitate growth within a job classification family.
- 8.4. Professional Growth Credits. Employees who meet the service requirements and who have accrued fifteen (15) approved points for the first and second increment and fifteen (15) approved points for the third and fourth increments will be eligible for a professional growth increment. Points will be granted as specified below:
 - 8.4.1 One (1) point per semester unit for committee-approved accredited college, community college or trade school, or adult education classes.
 - 8.4.2 When semester unit credit is not specified, fifteen (15) hours of class time equals one (1) point; seven (7) hours equals one-half (1/2) point; four (4) hours equals one-third (1/3) point.
 - 8.4.3 Courses taken from accredited correspondence schools will be accepted and prorated according to semester hours of credit allowed for the course.

- 8.4.4 No employee shall receive credit for classes attended during the working day if he/she is being paid for his/her regular services.
- 8.4.5 Credit shall not be granted if the District pays expenses.

8.5. Organized Job-Related Workshops

- 8.5.1 Prorated point credit will be granted for committee approved job-related workshop attendance, based on one (1) point for each fifteen (15) hours of attendance.
- 8.5.2 No employee shall receive credit for workshops attended during the working day if he/she is being paid for his/her regular services.
- 8.5.3 Credit shall not be granted if the District pays expenses.

8.6. **Job-Related Conferences**

- 8.6.1 Prorated point credit will be granted for approved job-related conferences, based on one (1) point for each fifteen (15) hours of attendance.
- 8.6.2 Credit shall not be granted if the District pays expenses.
- 8.7. **Qualifications for Professional Growth Increment**. In order to qualify for a professional growth increment, the following steps must be followed:
 - 8.7.1 An intent to participate in the Professional Growth Program must be filed with the Business Manager on the designated form prior to the first day of the activity. Credit will not be granted for participation in growth activities completed prior to the date the intent letter is received by the District.
 - 8.7.2 Requests for approval of specific course work should be submitted to the committee prior to the beginning of the course in order to insure credit.
 - 8.7.3 Verification of completion of professional growth activities must be presented to the committee for evaluation. Official transcripts must be submitted for college course credit. For adult education classes, the instructor's signature verifying attendance and satisfactory completion of the course will be accepted in lieu of a transcript. Satisfactory evidence of workshop or conference attendance will be required.
 - 8.7.4 The first and second professional growth increments will be granted after the employee has accrued fifteen (15) verified points per increment and has completed a least one (1) year of service per increment after the filing date of the intent form. The third and fourth professional growth increments will be granted after the employee has accrued fifteen (15) verified points per increment and has completed at least one (1) year of service after the filing date of the intent form. There is no maximum time limit on completion.

- 8.7.5 Except for the initial professional growth period, new professional growth periods may not commence until successful completion of the prior period. The total number of increment awards shall not exceed four (4).
- 8.7.6 The professional growth increment will be effective on the first day of the month following the thirtieth (30th) calendar day after approved completion of the requirements.
- 8.7.7 Any points earned beyond the points necessary to earn an increment in any growth period may be carried over into the next period.
- 8.8. **Award**. The professional growth award will be made when the employee has met the requirements. Each award will be superimposed on preceding awards. Each full-time employee qualified will receive three hundred (\$300.00) per year per increment, paid in ten (10) monthly installments of thirty dollars (\$30.00) each.

Article 9. TRANSFER AND FILLING OF VACANCIES

- 9.1. **Definition**. A transfer is defined as a change of job site within the same position classification.
- 9.2. **Criteria for Transfer**. The following criteria shall be used in consideration of transfer:
 - 9.2.1 The needs and efficient operation of the District.
 - 9.2.2 The qualifications including the experience and recent training of the staff member, compared to those of other candidates, for both the position to be filled and the position to be vacated.
 - 9.2.3 The length (seniority) of the service rendered to the District by the employee.
 - 9.2.4 Quality of service. Quality of service will be indicated by the most recent evaluation.
 - 9.2.5 The preference of the employee.
- 9.3. **Employee Initiated Transfer Requests**. Any permanent employee shall have the privilege of requesting a transfer to any job location within the same position classification, subject to the following conditions:
 - 9.3.1 Submission of a request for transfer shall be in writing. Properly filed transfer requests shall be valid for one (1) year and shall be granted according to the transfer criteria in 9.2.
 - 9.3.2 The filing of a request for transfer is without prejudice to the employee and shall not jeopardize the present assignment. A request for transfer may be withdrawn

- by the employee in writing at any time prior to official notification of transfer approval.
- 9.3.3 Voluntary transfer requests shall not be processed in situations that might impede the recall of laid-off employees.

9.4. Employer Initiated Transfers

- 9.4.1 After consultation with CAUSE, a transfer may be made by the District at any time for any of the following reasons:
 - 9.4.1.1. A change of enrollment or workload necessitating transfer of classified staff.
 - 9.4.1.2. Needs and efficiency of the District.
- 9.4.2 Except in cases where a particular employee must be transferred involuntarily, when all transfer criteria are judged equal by the District, and when there is no suitable volunteer, the least senior employee within a given classification at a particular job site shall be involuntarily transferred.
- 9.4.3 An employee may request of the Superintendent or his/her designee a conference or a written statement regarding reasons for the involuntary transfer.

9.5. Filling of Vacancies

- 9.5.1 The District is responsible for carrying on such recruitment and promotion practices as it deems necessary to seek out and secure the most qualified individuals to apply for vacancies at all levels within the bargaining unit. The District management shall post a notice and job description of vacancies in positions covered by CAUSE on the District website, District email accounts, and classified employees' bulletin board designated by the District at all school locations and in the maintenance and transportation departments at least ten (10) calendar days before the filing date. A copy will also be sent to CAUSE President and Vice President of Classified.
- 9.5.2 For purposes of this provision a vacancy is any unit position the District determines needs to be filled which is new or remains unfilled after any transfers are made. A position reclassification would not necessarily create a vacancy. All other qualifications being equal as set out in 9.2 criteria, a current employee who requests a horizontal transfer (i.e. custodian to custodian, Clerk II to Clerk II, etc.) will be given preference over a non-employee.
- 9.5.3 Consideration for promotional opportunities will be given to all applicants that meet the established qualifications for the vacancy; however, the final selection is subject to the discretion of the District.
- 9.5.4 If an employee requests the reasons for failure to be transferred or promoted in writing, the District will provide the reasons.

Article 10. EVALUATION OF EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE

- 10.1. The District shall provide for at least an annual evaluation of all permanent employees in the District in achieving the standard of work performance required. Employees who receive not effective ratings on their Classified Employee Performance Appraisal (CEPA) must be provided prior written notice of the performance problem. The notice must specify the improvement (areas), linked to the CEPA. If subsequently, the CEPA shows a "not effective" rating for the improvement area(s) specified in the prior written notice, the CEPA will include the following: (1) specific improvement needed; (2) the specific assistance/training that has been and/or will be provided to help the employee become effective, and; (3) a reasonable time frame for the employee to become "effective." The time frame will also specify a series of "feedback" meetings; so that the employee can understand his/her progress toward the specified improvement deadline. Written notice previously provided will be attached to the CEPA. If the identified problem is corrected, the Supervisor shall note the improvement and attach it to the CEPA. The CEPA shall be forwarded to Human Resources by the supervisor.
- 10.2. Each employee shall be given a copy of the evaluation form prepared by his/her supervisor. Copies of these reports shall be available only to the supervisor, the Assistant Superintendent-Business Services, the Personnel Department, the Superintendent, and the Board of Education and other members of the District management team.
- 10.3. On or before a probationary employee completes his or her probationary period (130 working days), the employee shall receive at least one written evaluation.
- 10.4. Permanent employees shall be evaluated at least once a year by the end of the school year for 10-month employees and by the end of the last work day in June for 11-month and 12-month employees, and at other times as the supervisor, the Assistant Superintendent Business Services or the Superintendent may require evaluation of an individual, a class or all employees.
- 10.5. A permanent employee in the classified service who vacates a position to accept a probationary promotion to a class in a higher level and who is rejected during the probationary period shall be eligible for reinstatement to a vacant position in the class or position unless the reasons for which he/she was terminated from the promotional position were such as to constitute cause for dismissal.
- 10.6. The District may fill behind a promoted employee with a substitute. The District may at its option shorten the promotional probationary period from the standard 60 calendar days. Should the District determine the employee has been unsuccessful the employee may elect to return to the prior classification.

Article 11. PERSONNEL FILES

- 11.1. Personnel records shall be kept on all current employees and shall include the following: employment status, evaluations, changes of status, and other related materials.
- 11.2. A separate folder containing each employee's salary information shall be retained in the Payroll department.
- 11.3. An employee of the District shall have the right to review the contents of the employee's personnel file or authorize in writing the file to be reviewed by a CAUSE representative. Anyone may, at employee's request, accompany him/her in the review. Upon request by the employee a copy of the file will be made available. More than 30 pages will be billed at \$.30 a page.
- 11.4. A classified employee shall be provided a copy of all derogatory materials before they are placed in his/her personnel file. He/she shall also be given an opportunity to initial and date the materials and to prepare a written response to such materials within ten (10) working days of receipt of the materials. The person or persons who draft and/or place materials in a classified employee's personnel file shall sign the materials and signify the date of which such materials were drafted and placed in the file. The written response shall be attached to the material.
- 11.5. Access to personnel files shall be limited to supervisory employees or agents of the District on a need-to-know basis. Need-to-know means the file may be used by those whose responsibility is to supervise or recommend discipline of an employee. All personnel files will be considered confidential and will not be available to persons other than the employee and those authorized by the Superintendent, Assistant Superintendent or Human Resources Coordinator.
- 11.6. All written materials files (except for those prohibited by law) shall be available for inspection by the employee involved in the presence of a District representative, by appointment.

Article 12. LEAVE PROVISIONS

The benefits which are expressly provided by this Article, Article 12, are the sole benefits which are part of this collective agreement, and it is agreed that other statutory or regulatory leave benefits are not incorporated, either directly or implied, into this Agreement, nor are such other benefits subject to the Grievance Procedure, Article 3.

12.1. Sick Leave

12.1.1 In any fiscal year, an employee shall earn paid sick leave time at the rate of one day for each full month of paid service on an unlimited accumulated basis. One-half of the employee's sick leave accumulated in any given year can be used for the illness of his/her spouse or child.

- 12.1.2 A part-time employee shall earn sick leave and be paid sick leave benefits in direct proportion to which such assignment relates to full time.
- 12.1.3 When an employee is absent from duties because of verified illness or injury, whether or not the absence arises out of or in the course of the employment, said employee is paid full salary for such portion of the earned current and accumulated sick leave benefits.
- 12.1.4 Interpretation of the above paragraphs of this Agreement shall be in accordance with Education Code Section 45191.
- 12.1.5 Unused sick leave provided above shall be accumulated from year to year with no cumulative limit.
- 12.1.6 Legal holidays, Saturdays and Sundays shall not be counted as any part of said sick leave unless the employee is obligated to work on such days.
- 12.1.7 A regular classified employee shall once a year be credited with a total of not less than 100 working days of paid sick leave, including days to which he is entitled under Section 45191. Such days of paid sick leave in addition to those required by Section 45191 shall be compensated at not less than 50 percent of the employee's regular salary. The paid sick leave authorized under such a rule shall be exclusive of any other paid leave, holidays, vacation, or compensating time to which the employee may be entitled.
- 12.1.8 After any absence, the District may require evidence satisfactory to the District in the form of a physician's certificate, or otherwise, of the adequacy of the reason for any employee's absence during the time for which sick leave is requested. Under no circumstances may sick leave be used in lieu of, in addition to, or as vacation. Before the District requires a physician's certificate to justify leave utilization, it will first warn the employee with a copy of the warning provided to the personnel file. This notice is required only one time except that, if a two (2) year time period expires during which the employee has no challenged absences, the District must again provide the above warning.
 - a. The District shall cause to have kept complete records of attendance and including a physician's certificate when required. All such records shall be available to the District for the purpose of ascertaining and preparing payrolls.

12.2. Industrial Accident and Industrial Illness Leave

12.2.1 Allowable leave shall be for not less than sixty-working (60) days during which the schools of the District are required to be in session or when the employee would otherwise have been performing work for the District in any one fiscal year for the same accident. The accident must have been reported within 24 hours of its occurrence, on the form provided by the District. It must be verified

- by the insurer as a bona fide injury arising out of and in the course of service in the District.
- 12.2.2 Allowable leave shall not be accumulated from year to year.
- 12.2.3 Industrial accident or illness leave shall commence on the first day of absence.
- 12.2.4 When an employee is absent from duty on account of an industrial accident or illness, he/she shall be paid such portion of the salary due in any month the absence occurs, which when added to a temporary disability indemnity under Division 4 or Division 4.5 of the Labor Code will result in a payment of not more than full salary.
- 12.2.5 Industrial accident or illness leave shall be reduced by one day for each day of authorized absence regardless of a temporary disability indemnity award.
- 12.2.6 When an industrial accident or illness leave overlaps into the next fiscal year, the member shall be entitled to only the amount of unused leave due for the same illness or injury.
- 12.2.7 Upon termination of the industrial accident or illness leave, the employee shall be entitled to benefits provided in Education Code sections 45191 and 45196 and, for the purposes of the Sections, the absence shall be deemed to have commenced on the date of termination of the industrial accident or illness leave, provided that, if the employee continues to receive temporary disability indemnity, election may be made to take as much of the accumulated sick leave which, then added to temporary disability indemnity, will result in a payment of not more than the full salary.
- 12.2.8 The District may, by policy, provide for such additional leave-of-absence for industrial accident or illness as it deems appropriate.
- 12.2.9 During any paid leave-of-absence, the employee shall endorse to the District the temporary disability indemnity checks received on account of the industrial accident or illness. The District in turn, shall issue the employee appropriate salary warrants for payment of salary and shall deduct normal retirement and other authorized contributions.
- 12.2.10 An employee's industrial accident leave shall be suspended automatically for any period during which he/she is not within the State unless he/she has obtained prior approval of the Board of Education for absence from the State.

12.3. Bereavement Leave

12.3.1 An employee is allowed a leave of absence, not to exceed five (5) workdays, on full pay, when such absence is occasioned by reason of death in the immediate family. Immediate family is defined as spouse, domestic partner, mother, father, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, sister, grandmother, grandfather, grandchild or any relative living in the immediate household of the

- employee. This list is extended to the same relatives for the spouse/domestic partner of the employee.
- 12.3.2 Bereavement leave is not applicable while an employee is on sick leave, scheduled vacation, unpaid leave-of-absence, or during unscheduled workdays for employees.

12.4. Personal Necessity

- 12.4.1 Up to seven (7) days of leave for personal necessity leave (to be charged against sick leave) may be used for circumstances which are serious in nature, cannot reasonably be expected to be disregarded, and require the attention of the employee during the assigned hours of service. If more time is necessary, the employee may request an extension from the District.
- 12.4.2 Acceptable reasons for the use of personal necessity leave include, but are not limited to:
 - a. A serious illness of a member of his or her immediate family.
 - b. Required court appearance of the employee
 - c. Fire, flood, or other immediate danger to the property of the employee
 - d. Personal business of a serious nature which the employee cannot disregard, such as, but not limited to the death of a friend or relative who is not immediate family.
- 12.4.3 An employee shall not be required to secure advance permission for leave taken for any of the following reasons:
 - a. Death or illness of a member of his or her immediate family
 - b. Accident, involving his or her person or property, or the person or property of a member of his or her immediate family.
- 12.4.4 Except in urgent circumstances, an employee is expected to obtain advance permission for all other uses of personal necessity leave. Upon return from leave, an employee will complete required forms verifying the absence.
- 12.4.5 Employees may not take personal necessity leave for concerted activities, on the day before or after holidays, for paid employment, or for vacation.
- 12.4.6 Employees are entitled to use up to six (6) weeks of earned sick leave for formal adoption or foster care placement.

12.5. Personal Business Leave

- 12.5.1 An employee may use up to two (2) days per year of accumulated sick leave for personal business. These days may be used for any purpose at the employee's discretion but may not include concerted activities.
- 12.5.2 Three (3) days advance notice shall be required, but no request may be made prior to ninety (90) days before the requested day of leave. Such leave may not be used during the first or last week that school is in session.
- 12.5.3 The maximum number of employees at each work site who shall be granted Personal Business Leave on any one day is based on the inconvenience the absence would cause for the operation of the District; i.e. on sites or in classifications where adequate substitutes can be obtained or work can be covered on a short-term basis. In circumstances where multiple requests are received, seniority will be the factor used to discriminate among requests.
- 12.5.4 The site administration is required to notify the employee within twenty-four (24) hours of the request as to whether the request is approved.

12.6. Military Leave

- 12.6.1 Within twenty-four (24) hours of receipt of military orders which will require a leave, the employee is to furnish a copy to his or her immediate supervisor along with a letter which states that: The leave is required and there are no alternatives; a reasonable attempt (include documentation) has been made to seek rescheduling to a time when school service will not be interrupted.
- 12.6.2 Military leave of absence shall be granted and compensated in accordance with the Military and Veterans Code, Sections 389 and 395.

12.7. Maternity Leave

- 12.7.1 Employees are entitled to use earned sick leave for disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth, and recovery therefrom on the same terms and conditions governing leaves of absence from other illness or medical disability. Such leave shall not be used for childcare, child rearing, or preparation for child bearing, but shall be limited to those disabilities as set forth above.
- 12.7.2 In the event an employee, who is or was pregnant, wishes to remain absent from duties beyond the period of verified physical disability, an unpaid leave may be granted at the discretion of the District for a maximum of the balance of the school year in which the disability absence for confinement ends.
- 12.7.3 The major purpose of these regulations is to enable the District to make sound educational plans concerning personnel and the program of education. The assignment upon return shall be determined solely by the District.

12.8. **Jury Duty Leave**

- 12.8.1 The District agrees to grant to employees regularly called for jury duty, in the manner provided by law, a leave of absence without loss of pay for time the employee is required to perform the duty during the employee's regularly assigned working hours. Employees, so called for jury duty, shall submit a written notice along with a copy of the summons to the District upon receiving said summons from officers of the Court. The District shall pay the employee his/her salary and the employee is to remit to the District (within thirty (30) days after receipt of check) the amount received for jury duty, less the amount awarded by the Court for mileage. Employees shall be at work during any day or portion thereof in which jury duty services are not required. Night custodians who serve a complete day of jury service are excused from work that night. The District may require verification of jury duty date(s) and time(s) prior to or subsequent to providing jury duty compensation.
- 12.8.2 The District reserves the right to request to have any employee excused from jury service in the event it determines that said jury service would entail hardship on the public served by the employee.

12.9. Sick Leave Donation Program

- 12.9.1 In the event of a catastrophic illness or injury to an employee or member of the employee's family, a sick leave bank may be established.
- 12.9.2 Catastrophic illness or injury is defined to mean an illness or injury that is expected to incapacitate an employee or members of his/her family for an extended period of time.
- 12.9.3 Family member is defined as the employee's spouse, parents, parent-in-laws, siblings, children, and stepchildren.
- 12.9.4 A bank will allow employees to donate up to thirty two (32) hours a year of accumulated sick leave to another employee. An employee who chooses to donate:
 - a. Must provide written notice to the District Office of the intent to transfer the accumulated sick leave days (on District form);
 - b. Must donate in one-hour increments up to a maximum of sixteen (16) sick leave hours;
 - c. Must acknowledge in writing (on District form) that the employee understands that he/she cannot revoke the donation of the accumulated sick leave days because all transfers to accumulated sick leave days are irrevocable and binding. The donating employee must sign and date this acknowledgement;
 - d. Must maintain a limit of ten (10) days of sick leave.
 - e. May be either certificated or classified.

- 12.9.5 The sick leave donation bank can only go into effect after the receiving employee has exhausted all accrued sick leave.
- 12.9.6 The employee who is requesting a donation of leave for catastrophic illness:
 - a. Must request in writing to the Superintendent that accumulated sick leave days be donated and the method of notification;
 - b. Must provide verification of the catastrophic illness or injury.
- 12.9.7 A District committee composed of two (2) CAUSE members selected by the CAUSE President and two (2) members selected by the Superintendent will determine, by unanimous vote, whether the employee is eligible to receive the donated days.
- 12.9.8 The employee receiving the donated accumulated sick leave days can only receive donated accumulated sick leave days for a maximum of fifty (50) days in any one-contract year. In the event that an employee uses all of the donated leave, the employee may request the District Committee to approve up to an additional fifty (50) days.
- 12.9.9 Only donated days that are used by the receiving employee shall be transferred from the donating employee's accumulated sick leave.

12.10. Family Care Leave.

- 12.10.1 The District shall comply with the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. Under the federal law, employees are entitled to three (3) months of unpaid family care leave during any 12-month period. In general, "family care leave" means leave because of (1) the birth of a child of an employee, (2) the placement of a child with an employee in connection with the adoption or foster care of a child with an employee, (3) the serious illness of a child or an employee; or (4) leave to care for a parent or a spouse who has a serious health condition. The references to the Family and Medical Leave Act are incomplete and only intended to explain the possible options for leave pursuant to the law. They are included only as a "road map" and not otherwise intended to lessen or award rights beyond those included in the law.
- 12.10.2 In accordance with the federal law, the District shall pay to its employees regular health and benefits contributions for up to three (3) months during the twelve (12) month period. The District may recover the District's contributions if the employee fails to return from leave, except if the reason is the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition, or something else beyond the employee's control.

12.11. Leave of Absence Without Pay

12.11.1 The Superintendent may authorize a leave or absence without pay for any permanent or probationary employee for a period not to exceed 30 calendar days.

- Leaves of absence without pay in excess of thirty (30) days must be approved by the Board of Education.
- 12.11.2 A leave of absence may be granted only to an employee who intends to return to the classified service.
- 12.11.3 Leave of absence without pay may be granted to an employee for any of the following reasons:
 - a. To attend school or college or to be trained to improve the quality of his/her service;
 - b. If temporarily incapacitated by illness or is pregnant;
 - c. If he/she is loaned to another governmental agency for the performance of a specific assignment;
 - d. Or other authorized reasons.
- 12.11.4 Authorized leave of absence without pay shall not be construed as a break in service or employment and rights accrued at the time the leave is granted shall be retained by the employee; however, vacation credits, sick leave credits, increases in salary, and other similar benefits shall not accrue to a person granted such a leave during the period of absence. An employee returning from a leave of absence without pay shall receive the same step in the salary range received when the leave of absence began. Time spent on such leave without pay shall not count toward service for increases within the salary range.
- 12.12. Additional Leaves for Non-Industrial Accident or Illness. A permanent employee of the classified service who has exhausted all entitlement to sick leave, vacation leave, compensatory overtime, or other available paid leave and who is absent because of non-industrial accident or illness may, with the recommendation of the Superintendent and approval of the Board of Education, be granted six (6) months leave, paid or unpaid, as determined by the Board. The Board may extend such leave for up to two (2) additional six (6) month periods, but not to exceed a total of eighteen (18) months.
 - 12.12.1 The Superintendent may authorize a leave of absence without pay for any permanent or probationary employee for a period not to exceed 30 calendar days. Leaves of absence without pay in excess of thirty (30) days must be approved by the Board of Education. If the leave is denied, the reason for denial will be provided the employee in writing.
- 12.13. **Absence Without Leave**. All unauthorized or unreported absences shall be considered as absence without leave, and a deduction of pay shall be made for each period of such absence. Such absence may be made the grounds for disciplinary action and will serve to interrupt continuous service. Absence without leave, for five (5) consecutive working days is grounds for dismissal from the classified service.
- 12.14.0 Reporting of Absences

- a. Any employee of the classified service who is absent from duty for any reason shall report the reason therefore to his/her supervisor immediately on the day of absence or before, if possible, and in any case, at the earliest practicable time.
- b. The supervisor's absence report shall be forwarded to the Business Office.
- c. An employee who finds it necessary to leave work because of illness or for any other reason at a time when no supervisor is available, shall report the time he/she left and reason therefore to the Business Office prior to the start of the employee's next following workday. Failure to do so may be made the grounds for disciplinary action.*The language of Article 12 will be modified to require CUSD to comply with the Parental Leave legislation (AB 375) which became effective 1/1/16.

Article 13. CAUSE RIGHTS

- 13.1. All CAUSE business, discussions, and activities will be conducted by employees or CAUSE officials outside established work hours and will be conducted in places other than District property, except when: (a) an authorized CAUSE representative obtains advance permission from the Superintendent or designee regarding the specific time, place and type of activity to be conducted; (b) the Superintendent or designee can verify that such requested activities and use of facilities will not interfere with the school programs and/or duties of employees, and will not directly or indirectly interfere with the right of employees to refrain from listening or speaking with an CAUSE representative; and (c) CAUSE pays in advance a reasonable fee for expenses related to utilities, security, clean-up and any unusual wear or damage.
- 13.2. No school equipment, supplies or time are to be used in constructing, distributing or posting of organizational information except as approved by the Superintendent.
 - CAUSE may use the school mailboxes and bulletin board spaces designated by the Superintendent subject to the following conditions: (a) all postings for bulletin boards or items for school mailboxes must contain the date of posting or distribution and identification of the organization together with a designated authorization by CAUSE President; (b) a copy of such postings or distributions must be delivered to the Superintendent or designee twelve (12) hours prior to posting or distribution; (c) CAUSE. will not post or distribute information which is determined by the District to defame, libel or slander the District or its personnel, subject to the immediate removal by the District of the right to post or to distribute for a period of at least one full semester.
- 13.3. CAUSE shall be granted reasonable released time for the purposes of meeting and negotiating with the District and for the processing of grievances. This time shall be restricted to the face-to-face meetings between the District and CAUSE. In addition, shall be granted fifty (50) hours of release time for the purpose of business. CAUSE may utilize Education Code Section 45210 for the purposes of organizational activities

- provided CAUSE makes the request for the leave, authorizes the use of the leave for that organizational activity, provides "reasonable notification," and restricts this leave to a "reasonable number" of employees on this type of leave at one time.
- 13.4. Any time the District appoints an advisory committee that includes a representative of CAUSE, CAUSE may select the representative.
- 13.5. District agrees to print the agreements and provide adequate copies to CAUSE for distribution. CAUSE accepts the responsibility that a copy of each agreement will be provided every employee provided that the District gives CAUSE updated employee rosters by site.

Article 14. SAFETY

- 14.1. The District is committed to employee safety and endeavors to provide all employees with a safe and healthy working environment. The District has the responsibility for the safety of employees.
- 14.2. The District shall prepare, publish and post rules for safety and the prevention of accidents; provide protective devices where they are required for the safety of employees; and provide safe equipment where such equipment is required for the conduct of the District's educational program and the operation of schools.
 - 14.2.1. The Superintendent or designee shall be responsible for the promulgation of District safety rules and procedures.
 - 14.2.2. Employees shall be responsible for observing all safety rules and standards and shall promptly report to the direct supervisor in writing any alleged unsafe or unhealthy conditions found in District facilities.
- 14.3. Unit members are to report any alleged unsafe or potentially unsafe conditions to their appropriate supervisor. Oral communications shall be confirmed in writing. Upon receipt of the unit member's written report of unsafe conditions, the Superintendent or designee will acknowledge in writing what action, if any, will be taken on the reported condition. Such response shall occur within five (5) workdays.
- 14.4. First aid materials shall be available at all facilities maintained by the District.
- 14.5. Any unit member who is threatened with bodily harm or who suffers bodily harm while fulfilling assigned duties shall, promptly report the threat or harm, followed when time permits, with a written report to the appropriate supervisor. The Superintendent or designee is authorized to initiate, when appropriate, legal proceedings against any individual to recover damages for injury caused by the willful misconduct of that individual to the person or property of an employee or another person on district premises or while conducting authorized district business.

- 14.5.1. When violations occur that endanger or threaten the safety or security of an employee, the supervisor shall immediately report the incident to the Superintendent or designee, who shall make necessary reports to law enforcement.
- 14.6. Any unit member who is concerned about communications from students, parents, or community members either directly or by an "electronic act" that are potentially threatening or defamatory shall bring those communications to the attention of his or her appropriate supervisor, so that they may be evaluated in light of legal requirements for an appropriate response. An "electronic act" is defined as the creation and transmission originated on or off the school site, by means of an electronic device, including, but not limited to, a telephone, wireless telephone, or other wireless communication device, computer, or pager, of a communication, including, but not limited to a message, text, sound, or image or an online / electronic post.
 - 14.6.1. Due to the ever-changing nature of the electronic age in which we live, section 14.6 will be reviewed for relevancy on a yearly basis.
- 14.7. Any supervisor who has knowledge of a threat of bodily harm to a staff member or group of staff members shall promptly notify said staff member(s) and take appropriate action to protect the employee(s). The supervisor will also take action to notify the Superintendent or designee.
- 14.8. All employees shall take immediate action upon being made aware that any person is in possession of an unauthorized injurious object on school grounds or at a school-related or school-sponsored activity. The employee shall use his/ her own judgment as to the potential danger involved and, based upon this analysis, shall do one of the following: confiscate the object and inform the appropriate supervisor or deliver it to the supervisor immediately, who shall take appropriate action and notify the Superintendent or designee.
- 14.9. When absence is caused by an assault, a credible threat of an assault or injury that occurs within the scope of employment, the unit member shall be accommodated. The District shall grant the employee paid leave including but not limited to industrial or accident leave.
- 14.10. Assaultive Behavior Training: Within two weeks (or as otherwise reasonably scheduled) of a unit member's assignment to work with students who have a history of assaultive behaviors, the unit member shall be trained in the management of assaultive behaviors. Should other unit members wish to be trained in the management of assaultive behaviors and the District agrees it would assist that unit members' job performance, the District will schedule and conduct the training as time permits.
- 14.11. ASSOCIATION shall appoint up to two members to serve on the District Safety Committee. The District Safety Committee shall distribute to all staff the minutes of safety meetings, which shall include the issues and steps being taken to achieve employee and student safety.

Article 15. ALCOHOL AND DRUG ABUSE POLICY

15.1. Purpose. It is the intention of this policy to eliminate substance abuse and its effects in the workplace. While the Carpinteria Unified School District has no intention of intruding into the private lives of its employees, involvement with drugs and alcohol off the job can take its toll on job performance and employee safety. Our concern is that employees are in a condition to perform their duties safely and efficiently, in the interests of their fellow workers and the public as well as themselves. The presence of drugs and alcohol on the job, and the influence of these substances on employees during working hours, are inconsistent with this objective.

Alcohol or drug abuse will not be tolerated, and disciplinary action, up to and including termination, will be used as necessary to achieve this goal where an employee's job performance is affected by drugs or alcohol abuse.

Employees who have a drug or alcohol problem are encouraged to seek assistance through their health provider or other community service prior to the problem affecting their job performance.

This policy provides guidelines for the detection and deterrence of alcohol and drug abuse. It also outlines the responsibilities of managers and employees. To that end the District will act to eliminate any substance abuse (alcohol, illegal drugs, prescription drugs or any other substance which could impair an employee's ability to safely and effectively perform the functions of the particular job) that increases the potential for accidents, absenteeism, substandard performance, poor employee morale or damage to the District's reputation. All persons covered by this policy should be aware that violations of the policy may result in discipline, up to and including termination, or in not being hired.

In recognition of the public service responsibilities entrusted to the employees of the District and that drug and alcohol usage can hinder a person's ability to perform duties safely and effectively, the following policy against drug and alcohol abuse is hereby incorporated in the contract between CAUSE and the District.

15.2. Policy. It is District's policy that employees shall not be under the influence of or in possession of alcohol or drugs; nor possess alcohol or drugs while on District property, at work locations, or while on duty or subject to being called to duty; shall not utilize such substances while they are subject to District duty, sell or provide drugs or alcohol to any other employee or to any person while such employee is on duty or subject to being called, nor have their ability to work impaired as a result of the use of alcohol or drugs.

While use of medically prescribed medications and drugs is not per se a violation of this policy, failure by the employee to notify his/her supervisor, before beginning work, when taking medications or drugs which could foreseeably interfere with the safe and effective performance of duties or operation of District equipment can result in discipline, up to and including termination. In the event there is a question regarding an

employee's ability to safely and effectively perform assigned duties while using such medications or drugs, clearance from a qualified physician may be required.

The District reserves the right to search, without employee consent, all areas and property in which the District maintains control or joint control with the employee. Otherwise the District may notify the appropriate law enforcement agency that an employee may have illegal drugs in his or her possession or in an area not jointly or fully controlled by the District.

Refusal to submit immediately to an alcohol and/or drug analysis when such analysis is authorized by the Superintendent or his/her designee or law enforcement personnel may constitute insubordination and may be grounds for discipline up to and including termination.

Employees reasonably believed to be under the influence of alcohol or drugs shall be prevented from engaging in further work and shall be detained for a reasonable time until he or she can be safely transported from the work site.

The District is committed to providing reasonable accommodation to those employees whose drug or alcohol problem classified them as handicapped under federal and/or state law.

15.3. **Application**. This policy applies to all employees of and to all applicants for positions with the District. This policy applies to alcohol and to all substances, drugs, or medications, legal or illegal, which could impair an employee's ability to effectively and safely perform the functions of the job.

15.4. Employee Responsibilities

- 15.4.1 Not report to work or be subject to duty while his/her ability to perform job duties is impaired due to on or off duty alcohol or drug use;
- 15.4.2 Not possess or use alcohol or impairing drugs (illegal drugs and prescription drugs without a prescription) during working hours or while subject to duty, on breaks, during meal periods or at any time while on Agency property;
- 15.4.3 Not directly or through a third party sell or provide drugs or alcohol to any person, including any employee, while either employee or both employees are on duty or subject to being called;
- 15.4.4 Submit immediately to an alcohol and drug test when requested by a responsible District representative;
- 15.4.5 Notify his/her supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any medications or drugs, prescription or non-prescription, which may interfere with the safe and effective performance of duties and operation of Agency equipment; and

15.4.6 Provide within twenty-four (24) hours of request a bona fide verification of a current valid prescription for any potentially impairing drug or medication identified when a drug screen/test is positive. The prescription must be in the employee's name.

15.5. Management Responsibilities and Guidelines

- 15.5.1 Managers and supervisors are responsible for reasonable enforcement of this policy.
- 15.5.2 The Superintendent or his/her designee may authorize a manager or supervisor to request that an employee submit to a drug and/or alcohol test when a manager or supervisor has a reasonable suspicion that an employee is intoxicated or under the influence of drugs or alcohol while on the job or subject to being called.

"Reasonable suspicion" is a belief based on objective facts sufficient to lead a reasonably prudent supervisor to suspect that an employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol so that the employee's ability to perform the functions of the job is impaired or so that the employee's ability to perform his/her job safely is reduced.

For example, any of the following, alone or in combination, may constitute reasonable suspicion:

- a. Slurred speech;
- b. Alcohol odor on breath:
- c. Unsteady walking and movement;
- d. An accident involving Agency property;
- e. Physical altercation;
- f. Verbal altercation;
- g. Unusual behavior;
- h. Possession of alcohol or drugs;
- i. Information obtained from a reliable person Based on personal observation of one or more of the above criteria
- 15.5.3 Any manager or supervisor requesting, after authorization from the Superintendent or his/her designee, an employee to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test should document in writing the facts constituting reasonable suspicion that the employee in question is intoxicated or under the influence of drugs.
- 15.5.4 Any manager or supervisor encountering an employee who refuses an order to submit to a drug and/or alcohol analysis upon request, after authorization from the Superintendent or his/her designee, shall remind the employee of the requirements and disciplinary consequences of this policy. Where there is reasonable suspicion that the employee is then under the influence of alcohol or drugs, the manager or supervisor should detain the employee for a reasonable time until the employee can be safely transported home.

- 15.5.5 Managers and supervisor shall not physically search the person of employees, nor shall they search the personal possessions of employees without the freely given consent of, and in the presence of, the employee.
- 15.5.6 Managers and supervisor shall notify the Superintendent or designee when they have reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee may have illegal drugs in his or her possession or in an area not jointly or fully controlled by the District. If the Superintendent or designee concurs that there is reasonable suspicion of illegal drug possession, the department head shall notify the appropriate law enforcement agency.
- 15.5.7 The laboratory retained by the District for testing purposes will have a chain of custody process, which insures the integrity of the sample. Where a drug test comes back positive, a second, more sensitive test such as Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry Test (GC/MS) will be done.
- 15.5.8 Where the best interest of the district and community can be accommodated, first time offenders will be treated in a positive manner. Employees with an alcohol and drug abuse problem are encouraged to attend and complete a substance abuse program.

Article 16. TRAINING

- 16.1. All new hires, before serving in the position, including substitutes, shall be required to attend an orientation provided by CUSD Human Resources upon hiring, which includes a review of Aesop, payroll paperwork, a school map for each assigned site, emergency preparedness information, a daily schedule, and a job description with priority duties the new hire is required to perform.
- 16.2. All Classified unit members shall receive the following training on their first day before any in-class or school site orientation, according to the following schedules:
 - 1. "Get Safety Trained" or other equivalent safety training:
 - a. Mandated Child Abuse upon hiring and yearly thereafter
 - b. Sexual Harassment upon hiring and every other year thereafter
 - c. Bloodborne Pathogens upon hiring and every other year thereafter
 - d. Safety Essentials for Existing Employees upon hiring and every other year thereafter
 - 2. "Hour Zero" or other equivalent emergency preparedness program upon hiring and yearly thereafter
- 16.3. New SPED IA IIIs shall meet with the assigned school site District representative and have an observation period in their assigned class prior to working with students. The

- purpose is to prepare incoming SPED IA IIIs for any unique conditions associated with student IEPs.
- 16.4. Either CPI or other equivalent behavioral training will be mandatory for incoming and current IA IIIs, by December 2019. This training will be provided by CUSD during service hours. After December 2019, incoming IAs will complete said training within 6 months.
- 16.5. Training will occur during their routine work hours on early release Wednesdays. District Administration maintains responsibility for providing said Training.
- 16.6. CUSD will provide thirty (30) days notice of training to provide staff ample time to secure availability. If thirty (30) days notice is not feasible, then CUSD may provide shorter notice upon agreement with Association.

Article 17. RECLASSIFICATION PROCEDURE

- 17.1. Petition: Employees or their supervisors may petition for a review of position classification. Petitions shall be submitted by April 1 to the Office of the Business Manager.
- 17.2. Board of Review: Properly completed Request for Reclassification Review forms will be screened by the Board of Review composed of:
 - 17.2.1 One classified employee appointed by CAUSE;
 - 17.2.2 The Business Manager or his/her designee.
 - 17.2.3 One person appointed by the initial appointments to the Board of Review.
- 17.3. The Board of Review shall be responsible for determining if there exists justification to conduct a full study of the position. Decisions shall be made by majority vote. In evaluating the request for review, the panel shall consider the following:
 - 17.3.1 The level and nature of the duties and responsibilities the employee is regularly required to perform which are not covered by his/her job description.
 - 17.3.2 How the employee came to be assigned duties and responsibilities not covered by his/her job description (i.e., expansion in the functions of the school or office, or possession by the employee of special skills or abilities.)
 - 17.3.3 Comparison of the employee's actual duties as shown on the Request for Reclassification Review with the duties shown on the job description.
 - 17.3.4 Internal relationships (i.e., classified salary schedule).
 - 17.3.5 Information given by the employee and the employee's supervisor to the Board of Review upon request. Additionally, the Board of Review will seek data and information from the classifications under consideration and provide representatives the opportunity to speak directly on the issues.
- 17.4. Decisions of the Board of Review shall be communicated by the Chairperson to the petitioner with the reasons for its decision. Decisions of the Board of Review to accept or deny the petition for study shall be final. However, an employee may re-petition for consideration the next year.
- 17.5. Any change in classification range or job description shall become effective July 1. (The beginning of the next fiscal year).

Article 18. LAYOFF AND REEMPLOYMENT FOLLOWING LAYOFF

18.1. Classified employees shall be subject to layoff for lack of work or lack of funds. Whenever a classified employee is laid off, the order of layoff within the classification shall be determined by length of service. The employee, who has been employed the

- shortest time in the classification, plus higher classes, shall be laid off first. Employees will be laid off according to their status in the following order: substitute or short term employees, probationary employees, permanent employees.
- 18.2. When a permanent employee who has been promoted to a higher classification is subject to layoff, he/she shall be given the opportunity of replacing employees in the former but lower or equal classification who have fewer hours of paid service, provided that such an employee achieved permanency in the classification and can still meet the requirements for appointment to that classification.
- 18.3. All service in the classification, plus higher classification, shall count as seniority within the classification.
- 18.4. Salary placement on the lower classification level will be on a step that would least affect the employee's compensation.
- 18.5. The demoted employee shall retain his anniversary date.
- 18.6. When, as a result of a bona fide reduction or elimination of the service being performed by any department, classified employees shall be subject to layoff for lack of work and/or funds. Affected employees shall be given written notice by the Personnel Department of layoff not less than sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of layoff, and informed of their seniority, displacement, reemployment, and unemployment insurance rights.
- 18.7. When, as a result of the expiration of a specially funded program, classified positions must be eliminated at the end of any school year, and classified employees shall be subject to layoff for lack of funds, the employees to be laid off at the end of such school year shall be given written notice on or before May 29 informing them of their layoff and reemployment rights including seniority, displacement and unemployment insurance rights. However, if the termination date of any specially funded program is other than June 30, such notice shall be given not less than sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of the anticipated layoff.
- 18.8. The District agrees to consult with CAUSE to review and discuss the proposed layoffs and determine the order of layoff within the provisions of this Agreement and seriously consider their recommendations within ten (10) days prior to taking action on any matter which will result in a major change of services by classified employees.
- 18.9. Voluntary Demotions or Reduction in Time
 - 18.9.1 Employees who take voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned hours, weeks or months in lieu of layoff shall be granted the same rights as persons laid off and shall retain eligibility to be considered for reemployment for
 - an additional period of twenty-four (24) months provided that the employee possesses the required qualifications.

18.9.2 Employees who take voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time in lieu of layoff shall be, at the option of the employee, returned to a position in their former class or to positions with increased assigned time as vacancies become available and without limitation of time, but if there is a valid reemployment list, they shall be ranked on that list in accordance with their proper seniority.

18.10. Involuntary Reduction in Time

- 18.10.1 The application of the voluntary reduction in time shall occur prior to implementation of the "Involuntary Reduction in Time," provision.
- 18.10.2 The District shall meet with CAUSE to review and discuss any proposed reduction in hours and seriously consider their recommendations fifteen (15) days prior to taking action.
- 18.10.3 An involuntary reduction in time in a classification constitutes a layoff in a job classification and the employee whose hours are reduced will have the same rights as an employee under layoff procedures.
- 18.10.4 Any employee who feels that he/she has been improperly laid off shall report the error to the Personnel Office so that any appropriate correction shall be made immediately.
- 18.11. **Reemployment of Persons Laid Off.** Persons laid off because of lack of work or lack of funds shall be placed on an employment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months and shall be reemployed in preference to new applicants. Reemployment shall be in the reverse order of layoff.
- 18.12. **Seniority Roster**. The District shall maintain a seniority roster including employees' class seniority with an updated copy provided CAUSE on an annual basis. This roster shall be published on May 1 for ten (10) month employees and May 25 for all other classified employees.
 - 18.12.1 Seniority within the District shall be determined based upon date of hire.
 - 18.12.2 Seniority within a classification shall be based upon date of hire within that classification.
 - 18.12.3 When two or more employees have the same date of hire then the employees with positive evaluations shall be retained.
 - 18.12.4 When two or more employees have the same hire date and position evaluations, the order of layoff of such employees shall be determined by lot.
- 18.13. **Notification of Reemployment Opening**. Any employee who is laid off and requests notification of open positions shall be mailed a copy of the notice by First Class Mail on the date the position is open.

- 18.14. Retirement in Lieu of Layoff. An employee, if eligible, may elect to accept a service retirement in lieu of layoff. If the employee subsequently accepts, in writing, the appropriate vacant position within a period of thirty-nine (39) months, the District shall maintain the vacancy until the Board of Administrations of the PERS has properly processed the request for reinstatement from retirement.
- 18.15. Effect of Layoff. It is agreed by both parties that the District has fulfilled its obligation to bargain the impact of future layoffs during the duration of this Agreement.
 - 18.15.1 Employees laid off shall be afforded "substitute" employment in any class within the District for which the employee meets the minimum qualifications of the class. The right to substitute shall be awarded in accordance with District seniority. Laid off employees must maintain addresses and phone numbers in order for the District to contact the employee. Should the District be unable to reach the employee by phone, it shall go on down the seniority list and offer the work to each employee qualified as indicated above.
 - 18.15.2 The District agrees to allow those laid off employees the right to use up to two(2) of their seven (7) days of personal necessity leave to seek other employment provided that the days are taken prior to actual layoff.
 - 18.15.3 The District agrees to comply with the Education Code requirements on volunteers unless waived by the State Department of Education.
 - 18.15.4 The District agrees to discuss with CAUSE and employees whose work load will be increased as an effect of the layoff, how workload will be reassigned.
 - 18.15.5 The District agrees to continue health and welfare benefits for sixty (60) days in the event of a layoff.
 - 18.15.6 The District further agrees to permit any employee affected by layoff to pay the monthly premium for medical benefits for the required time pursuant to COBRA after the termination of District contributions for such benefits.
- 18.16. The District will communicate proposed layoffs and ensure that layoff details, if available, will be provided to CAUSE prior to public announcement.
 - 18.16.1 CAUSE and the District define "Meet & Consult" as the bargaining partners, in face-to- face meetings, seeking information or advice and recommendations concerning the potential layoffs. In order that the bargaining partners are provided an opportunity to seriously consider the proposed layoffs, they will listen to each others' perspectives and insights in meetings prior to public announcement.
 - 18.16.2 The Federation and its leaders are encouraged to attend Board Study Sessions where budgetary considerations are agendized and are provided the opportunity to comment during the public section of the agenda.

- 18.16.3 The School Board is encouraged to hold Board Study Sessions during hours that the Federation and its leaders are not previously scheduled to provide services.
- 18.16.4 Not to be confused with the "Meet and Consult" requirements that occur prior to public notice; the Union will be provided an opportunity to meet and share ideas and points of view after Board meetings at which classified layoffs are discussed for informational purposes.
- 18.16.5 During the "Meet and Consult" process, the District will provide CAUSE the seniority list, information related to the layoffs, and responses to the Federation's clarifying questions/inquiries. CAUSE's point of view will be presented, during the regular meeting as an agendized item, to the Board prior to action of the Board on the formal layoff resolution.
- 18.16.6 The ten (10) and fifteen (15) days in Article 18 are designed to provide the District time to consider the suggestions made by CAUSE at the "Meet and Consult" meetings prior to the action of the Board on a formal layoff resolution.

Article 19. CONCERTED ACTIVITIES

- 19.1. It is agreed and understood that there will be no strike, work stoppage, slow-down, sick out, picketing or refusal or failure to fully and faithfully perform job functions and responsibilities, or other interference with the operations of the District by CAUSE or by employees during the term of this Agreement, including compliance with the request of other labor organizations to engage in such activity. The District will not engage in a lockout as a result of any action not caused by CAUSE or its members.
- 19.2. CAUSE recognizes the duty and obligation of its representatives to comply with the provisions of this Agreement and to make every effort toward inducing all employees to do so. In the event of a strike, work stoppage, slow-down, or other interference with the operations of the District by employees who are represented by CAUSE, CAUSE agrees in good faith to take all necessary steps to cause those employees to cease such action.
- 19.3. It is agreed and understood that any employee violating this Article may be subject to discipline up to and including termination by the District.
- 19.4. It is understood that in the event this Article is violated, the District reserves its full right to take any action permitted by law, District policy and practice.

Article 20. DISCIPLINARY ACTION

20.1. Discipline shall be for cause, corrective, and progressive. Depending on the severity of the violation, corrective action may be initiated at a level that is proportional to the violation.

Persons employed in the classified service may be orally warned, warned in writing, reprimanded, suspended, demoted, or dismissed.

- 20.1.1 Causes for discipline include Incompetency, inefficiency, insubordination, inattention to or dereliction of duty, discourteous treatment of the public or of fellow employees or any other willful failure of good conduct tending to injure the public service, or any willful and persistent violation of the provisions of the Education Code or of rules, regulations, or procedures adopted by the Board of Education pursuant to it, provided that specific instances must be set forth as to any of the causes enumerated under this heading;
- 20.1.2 Dishonesty, impairment as a result of alcohol or narcotics (illegal or prescription), or immoral conduct;
- 20.1.3 Political activities engaged in by an employee during his/her assigned hours of employment;
- 20.1.4 Conviction of a crime by a court of law,-which indicates that the person is a poor employment risk; failure to disclose material facts regarding criminal records; and other false or misleading information on application forms or examination and employment records concerning material matters;
- 20.1.5 Absenteeism (defined as frequent or habitual <u>absence</u> from work).
- 20.1.6 Abandonment of position which shall be defined as absence without leave or notice for a period of five work days.

Procedure for Disciplinary Action

- 20.2. No employee in the classified service shall be suspended, demoted, dismissed, or in any way discriminated against because of his/her political or religious acts or opinions or affiliations, or race, color, sex, national origin or ancestry, or marital status, or other provisions of Section 12940 of the Government Code.
- 20.3. Disciplinary action against a permanent employee is initiated when a Notice of Disciplinary Action -is served on the employee.
- 20.4. The Notice of Disciplinary Action shall contain written notice of specific charges against the employee, a statement of the employee's right to respond orally or in writing on or before a specified date and time, a statement of the employee's right to a hearing on such charges, and the time within which such hearing may be requested (which shall not be less than five days after service of the notice to the employee), and a card or paper, the

signing and filing of which shall constitute a demand for hearing and a denial of all charges.

- 20.4.1 In the event the employee elects to respond orally or in writing, the Skelly Officer is authorized to affirm or modify the Notice of Disciplinary Action.
- 20.5. The Notice of Disciplinary Action shall contain a statement in ordinary and concise language of the specific acts and omissions upon which the disciplinary action is based, a statement of the cause for the action taken, and if it is claimed that the employee has violated a rule or regulation of the district, a copy of the rules or regulation. A notice of disciplinary action established by any rule, regulations or statute without supporting facts is insufficient.
- 20.6. If the employee requests a hearing in writing, delivered to the Superintendent, all information and records pertinent to the case shall be made available to the employee or to a representative designated by the employee.
- 20.7. If the employee requests a hearing, the Board shall hear the charges at a special meeting called for the purpose of a formal hearing; or in lieu thereof the Board of Education may provide that the hearing shall be heard by a hearing officer. If the Board conducts the hearing, the President of the Board or designee should conduct the hearing. His or her preliminary remarks, prior to the presentation of evidence, should include:
 - 20.7.1 Advising the participants that the hearing is an opportunity for the Board to gather all of the facts in the case prior to reaching a decision.
 - 20.7.2 Telling the participants the procedure will be recorded.
 - 20.7.3 Telling the participants that the hearing will be conducted informally and strict rules of evidence will not apply.
 - 20.7.4 Identifying who will be representing the Administration and who will be representing the Employee.
 - 20.7.5 Indicating the order for the hearing:

District administration's Opening Remarks
Employee's Opening Remarks
District administration's Case/Witnesses/Cross Examination
Employee's Defense/Witnesses/Cross Examination
Employee's Closing Argument
District Administration's Closing Argument

- 20.7.6 Telling the appropriate representatives that they may proceed with their opening remarks.
- 20.7.7 At the conclusion of the hearing, asking Board Members for any additional questions.

- 20.7.8 Indicating that the Board will consider all of the testimony and evidence. Tell the parties that the Board will deliberate in closed session, announce its decision in open session following deliberation, and that the Superintendent will be responsible for providing a written notice of findings and disciplinary consequences, if any, to the representatives and the employee once the Board has reached a decision.
- 20.7.9 The Board may choose to be represented by separate counsel when termination or suspension of more than 10 days is the recommended action in the Notice of Charges.
- 20.8. Written notice of the time and place of the hearing shall be given in writing to the employee at least ten (10) days before the scheduled date of the hearing. An employee may request one continuance for good cause.
- 20.9. If the employee fails to request a hearing on the charges against him within the time specified in the notice, the employee shall be deemed to have waived the right to a hearing, and the District may proceed to act upon the charges without hearing or further notice.
- 20.10. No disciplinary action shall be taken for any cause which arose prior to the employee's becoming permanent, nor for any cause which arose more than two years preceding the date of the filing of the notice of cause unless such cause was concealed or not disclosed by such employee when it could be reasonably assumed that the employee should have disclosed the facts to the District.
- 20.11. When after the hearing, the Board suspends an employee without pay; the period of suspension shall not exceed the time limitation prescribed in Section 45304 of the Education Code.
- 20.12. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an employee may be suspended without pay by the Superintendent or designee once the Skelly hearing is completed and prior to the time the Board of Education considers the charges:
- 20.13. If an employee is suspended and the Board finds that the Notice of Disciplinary Action are not sustained, the employee shall be paid at the employee's regular salary rate for the period of the suspension.
- 20.14. The employee shall have a right to representation as outlined in Weingarten or PERB precedent during the disciplinary procedures.

Article 21. PAID HOLIDAYS

21.1. Except as otherwise provided, all employees in the bargaining unit shall be entitled (per Education Code Sections 45203 and 45205) to the following paid holidays provided they were in a paid status during any portion of the working day immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday. Payment to eligible part-time employees for such holidays shall

be appropriately prorated in proportion that the actual time worked, excluding overtime, bears to time served in a full-time position.

New Year's Day

Martin Luther King Day

Presidents' Days (Washington and Lincoln Birthdays)

Memorial Day

Juneteenth

Independence Day

Labor Day

Admission Day (Celebrated on Day after Thanksgiving)

Veterans' Day

Thanksgiving Day

Christmas Eve

Christmas Dav

New Year's Eve

Board designated Holiday during Winter Recess

Every day appointed by the President of the United States or Governor of California for a public fast, thanksgiving or holiday as specified in the Education Code.

- 21.2. When such a holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be deemed to be a holiday in lieu of the day observed. When such a holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be deemed to be the holiday in lieu of the day observed.
- 21.3. Regularly employed classified employees who are not normally assigned to duty during the winter vacation period shall be paid on an appropriate pro-rated basis for holidays falling within, provided they were in a paid status during any portion of the working day of their normal assignment immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday period.
- 21.4. Paid status is defined as including time worked and time during which any employee is excused from work but paid because of holidays, sick leave, vacation, compensatory time off, or other paid leave of absence.
- 21.5. Prior to July 1 of any school year, the Board of Education may designate other days during each such year as the holidays to which members of the classified service shall be entitled in lieu of holidays on February 12, third Monday in February, last Monday in May, or September 9, provided that such designated in-lieu days shall provide for at least a three-day weekend. Board designated holidays shall be the Friday after Thanksgiving in lieu of Admissions Day (September 9) and another day to be selected by the Board of Education as part of the annual calendar approval.

Article 22. VACATIONS

- 22.1. For the purpose of the section, "continuous service" shall mean employment for ten (10) or more calendar months of each year. Employees who normally work only those days school is in session shall be considered 10-month employees.
- 22.2. A new employee of the classified service shall not be eligible to take vacation during the first six (6) months of employment except as set out in 22.7 (10 and 11 month employees), but on successful completion thereof vacation shall be allowed up to the number of days earned. Under certain circumstances and only upon written approval of the Superintendent or his/her designee, a vacation may be granted an employee other than as herein stated. Each regular full-time employee shall be entitled to vacation leave with pay, subject to the following provisions:
 - 22.2.1 From the employment date of service, classified employees earn one working day credit for each calendar month, or major fraction thereof, of employment.
 - 22.2.2 After the completion of the fifth year of uninterrupted service, employees shall earn three (3) additional working days of credit each year.
 - 22.2.3 On completion of fourteen (14) years of uninterrupted service in the Carpinteria Unified School District, classified employees shall earn vacation at the rate of 1.667 days for each month or major fraction thereof worked. The intent is that such vacation be earned during the fourteenth year and taken during the fifteenth year of service. For complete years of service, the computation of days earned shall be rounded off to twenty (20) days for 12- month employees, eighteen (18) days for 11-month employees, and seventeen (17) days for 10-month employees. In no case shall more than twenty (20) days be earned

Years of Service	10 month	11 month	12 month
Year One—Year Five	10 days	11 days	12 days
Year Six—Year Fourteen	13 days	14 days	15 days
Year Fifteen	17 days	18 days	20 days

22.3. It is the policy of the Carpinteria Unified School District that vacation be taken annually; however, a total of five (5) days' vacation credit may be carried over from one year to the next with the approval of the District. The Assistant Superintendent-Business Services shall be notified during the year of accumulation of the desire to so accumulate. No employee will be allowed to accumulate more than twenty-five (25) days of vacation by the end of the fiscal year. If it occurs a manager shall either pay for or schedule the excess days of vacation by July 30. For those employees who have accumulated more than twenty-five (25) vacation days by the end of the fiscal year, each supervisor or

- manager shall create a plan for vacation utilization. All accumulated vacation above cap must be utilized by the following fiscal year.
- 22.4. Whenever a vacation period includes any declared holidays (other than Saturday and Sunday), it shall be extended by a number of days equal to said included holidays.
- 22.5. All employees of the classified service rendering less than full-time service shall be entitled to a prorated portion of vacation credits computed on the ratio that the hours, days or months worked bears to full-time service.
- 22.6. Vacations must be scheduled in advance and must be taken at times convenient to the District and to the department to which the employee is assigned. Requests for vacation must be made in writing and signed by the supervisor.
- 22.7. All ten (10) and eleven (11) month employees shall take earned vacations during the winter and/or spring break or as otherwise approved.
- 22.8. There shall be added at the completion often (10) years of service, a Service Recognition Day which cannot be accumulated or carried over. The day will be scheduled with the immediate supervisor. It is intended to recognize the long-term service of the employee and will continue each year after the completion of ten (10) years of service.

Article 23. NON-DISCRIMINATION

No employee in the classified service shall be suspended, demoted, dismissed, or in any way discriminated against because of his/her political or religious acts or opinions or affiliations, or race, color, sex, sexual orientation, national origin or ancestry, or marital status.

Article 24. SAVINGS PROVISIONS

If any provisions of this Agreement are held to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions will not be deemed valid and subsisting except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions will continue in full force and effect.

Article 25. SUPPORT OF AGREEMENT

CAUSE agrees to support this Agreement for its term and will not appear before the public school employer in order to seek change or improvement in any matter subject to the meet and negotiation process except as by mutual agreement of the District and CAUSE.

Article 26. EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

It is understood and agreed that the specific provisions contained in this Agreement shall prevail over

District practices and procedures and over state laws to the extent permitted by state law.

Article 27. COMPLETION OF MEET AND NEGOTIATION

During the term of this Agreement, the parties expressly waive and relinquish the right to meet and negotiate and agree that the parties shall not be obligated to meet and negotiate with respect to any subject or matter whether or not referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both the District or CAUSE at the time they met and negotiated on and executed this Agreement, and even though such subjects or matters were proposed and later withdrawn.

The District and CAUSE agree to reopen this contract for the 2013-2014 year and for the 2014-15 year on wages, medical benefits and one non-monetary item. For the 2015-16 year, the entire contract will be subject to reopening. Duration - the Agreement shall expire on **June 30, 2016.**

CAUSE shall make its initial proposal for re-openers to the District by the second regularly scheduled May meeting of the Board of Education. Each September, both the District and Association agree to initiate bargaining the allocation of resources between salary and health benefits.

Article 28. TERM

This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect up to and including June 30, 2023 and thereafter shall continue in effect year by year unless one of the parties notifies the other in writing no later than the second regularly scheduled May meeting of the Board of Education of its request to terminate, amend or modify this Agreement.

Article 29. ONBOARDING

- 29.1. New Employee Orientation All newly hired employees, shall be required to attend the Fall District Orientation.
- 29.2. The bargaining partners agree to recognize said District Orientations as part of the Professional Day. New hires will receive no extra compensation for their mandatory attendance.
- 29.3. The Union shall be allowed no less than one-and-one-half hours (1.5 hours) during all District Orientations to allow for routine onboarding discussions, contract distribution and presentation regarding employment rights and Union membership.
 - 29.3.1 The District shall provide the Union no less than ten (10) days advance notice for any new employee orientation or onboarding process, as defined in CA AB 119.
 - 29.3.2 The Union presentation shall be included on the District's Orientation agenda.

- 29.3.3 Unless by invitation from the Union President, no representatives from Management shall be present during the Union's presentation.
- 29.3.4 The Union shall present written materials, including a membership authorization form, during their presentation.
- 29.4. **Employee Records** The District shall provide the following information regarding all newly hired employees within 30 days of their date of hire:

Name

Job title

Department

Courses of instruction

Work location

Work, home and personal cellular telephone number

Personal email address

Home address

Work location

FTE - employment status

- 29.5. The District shall provide an updated version of the information outlined above (see 22.4) for all bargaining unit members every 120 days or as requested by the Union.
- 29.6. The District shall provide paid release time for all Union presenters at District Orientations, up to and including the President, Vice-President, and one (1) representative. If held during normal work hours, the Union President or designee shall schedule this release time to attend the Orientation with the District and Site Administration

APPENDIX A

SIDE AGREEMENT HARASSMENT POLICY

The Federation and the District agree to appoint two representatives each to work together to attempt to mutually recommend an employment HARASSMENT policy related to prohibitive conduct under Title VII by the Fair Employment Housing Act.

(A COPY OF THE HARASSMENT POLICY IS ON THE FOLLOWING PAGES)

SEXUAL HARASSMENT

4319.11

Definitions

Prohibited sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, unwelcome sexual advances, unwanted requests for sexual favors, or other unwanted verbal, visual, or physical conduct of a sexual nature made against another person of the same or opposite sex in the work or educational setting when: (Education Code 212.5; 5 CCR 4916)

- 1. Submission to the conduct is made explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of the individual's employment.
- 2. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by the individual is used as the basis for an employment decision affecting him/her.
- 3. The conduct has the purpose or effect of having a negative impact upon the individual's work or has the purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment. The conduct is sufficiently severe, persistent, pervasive, or objectively offensive so as to create a hostile or abusive working environment or to limit the individual's ability to participate in or benefit from an education program or activity.
- 4. Submission to or rejection of the conduct by the other individual is used as the basis for any decision affecting him/her regarding benefits, services, honors, programs, or activities available at or through the district.

Other examples of actions that might constitute sexual harassment, whether committed by a supervisor, a co-worker, or a non-employee, in the work or educational setting, include, but are not limited to:

- 1. Unwelcome verbal conduct such as sexual flirtations or propositions; graphic comments about an individual's body; overly personal conversations or pressure for sexual activity; sexual jokes or stories; unwelcome sexual slurs, epithets, threats, innuendoes, derogatory comments, sexually degrading descriptions, or the spreading of sexual rumors
- 2. Unwelcome visual conduct such as drawings, pictures, graffiti, or gestures; sexually explicit emails; displaying sexually suggestive objects
- 3. Unwelcome physical conduct such as massaging, grabbing, fondling, stroking, or brushing the body; touching an individual's body or clothes in a sexual way; cornering, blocking, leaning over, or impeding normal movements

Prohibited sexual harassment may also include any act of retaliation against an individual who reports a violation of the district's sexual harassment policy or who participates in the investigation of a sexual harassment complaint.

Training

Every two years, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that supervisory employees receive at least two hours of classroom or other effective interactive training and education regarding sexual harassment. All newly hired or promoted supervisory employees shall receive training within six months of their assumption of the supervisory position. (Government Code 12950.1)

The district's training and education program for supervisory employees shall include information and practical guidance regarding the federal and state laws on the prohibition against and the prevention and correction of sexual harassment, and the remedies available to the victims of sexual harassment in employment. The training shall also include all of the content specified in 2 CCR 7288.0 and practical examples aimed at instructing supervisors in the prevention of harassment, discrimination, and retaliation. (Government Code 12950.1; 2 CCR 7288.0)

In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all employees receive periodic training regarding the district's sexual harassment policy, particularly the procedures for filing complaints and employees' duty to use the district's complaint procedures.

Notifications

A copy of the Board policy and this administrative regulation shall: (Education Code 231.5)

- 1. Be displayed in a prominent location in the main administrative building, district office, or other area of the school where notices of district rules, regulations, procedures, and standards of conduct are posted
- 2. Be provided to each faculty member, all members of the administrative staff, and all members of the support staff at the beginning of the first quarter or semester of the school year or whenever a new employee is hired

(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications)

3. Appear in any school or district publication that sets forth the school's or district's comprehensive rules, regulations, procedures, and standards of conduct

All employees shall receive either a copy of information sheets prepared by the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) or a copy of district information sheets that contain, at a minimum, components on: (Government Code 12950)

- 1. The illegality of sexual harassment
- 2. The definition of sexual harassment under applicable state and federal law
- 3. A description of sexual harassment, with examples
- 4. The district's complaint process available to the employee

(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment)

- 5. The legal remedies and complaint process available through DFEH and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC)
- 6. Directions on how to contact DFEH and the EEOC
- 7. The protection against retaliation provided by 2 CCR 7287.8 for opposing harassment prohibited by law or for filing a complaint with or otherwise participating in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing conducted by DFEH and the EEOC

In addition, the district shall post, in a prominent and accessible location, DFEH's poster on discrimination in employment and the illegality of sexual harassment. (Government Code 12950)

Regulation approved: April 28, 2009

CARPINTERIA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT Carpinteria, California

53

CLARIFICATION OF UNIT

The purpose of this attachment is to clarify the composition of the bargaining unit described under "UNIT" in the Request for Recognition dated April 2, 1976.

A. Inclusions

1. Include all members of the Classified Service as defined in Section 45103 of the Education Code of the State of California with the following exclusions:

B. Exclusions

- 1. Confidential Positions
 - a. Executive Assistant (Assistant to the Superintendent and Assistant Superintendent of Business Services)
 - b. Human Resources Coordinator
 - c. Accountant
 - d. Payroll/Financial Technician

2. Supervisory Positions

- a. Maintenance Supervisor
- b. Grounds Supervisor
- c. Operations Supervisor
- d. Transportation/Warehouse Supervisor
- e. Food Services Supervisor
- f. Systems Support Supervisor

3. Other Exclusions

- a. All substitute employees
- b. All short term employees (per E.C. 45103)
- c. Part time playground employees
- d. All student employees
- e. All apprentices
- f. All professional experts (per E.C. 45103)
- g. All CETA employees and all "Restricted" employees

Carpinteria Unified School District Classified Salary Schedule Effective 7/1/22*

	001	002	003	004	005	006	007	800	009	010	011	012	013
101	2,687	2,687	2,687	2,687	2,687	2,687	2,719	2,802	2,884	2,973	3,061	3,154	3,248
	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.69)	(16.17)	(16.64)	(17.15)	(17.66)	(18.20)	(18.74)
102	2,687	2,687	2,687	2,687	2,694	2,778	2,859	2,946	3,035	3,124	3,219	3,315	3,414
	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.54)	(16.03)	(16.49)	(17)	(17.51)	(18.02)	(18.57)	(19.13)	(19.70)
103	2,687	2,687	2,687	2,753	2,836	2,919	3,010	3,097	3,189	3,289	3,387	3,486	3,590
	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.50)	(15.88)	(16.36)	(16.84)	(17.37)	(17.87)	(18.40)	(18.98)	(19.54)	(20.11)	(20.71)
104	2,687	2,735	2,816	2,903	2,988	3,079	3,172	3,266	3,364	3,464	3,566	3,676	3,785
	(15.50)	(15.78)	(16.25)	(16.75)	(17.24)	(17.76)	(18.30)	(18.84)	(19.41)	(19.98)	(20.57)	(21.21)	(21.84)
105	2,800	2,881	2,970	3,058	3,152	3,245	3,342	3,442	3,546	3,652	3,762	3,873	3,990
	(16.15)	(16.62)	(17.13)	(17.64)	(18.18)	(18.72)	(19.28)	(19.86)	(20.46)	(21.07)	(21.70)	(22.34)	(23.02)
106	2,952	3,042	3,136	3,229	3,324	3,423	3,529	3,633	3,742	3,854	3,968	4,089	4,211
	(17.03)	(17.55)	(18.09)	(18.63)	(19.18)	(19.75)	(20.36)	(20.96)	(21.59)	(22.24)	(22.89)	(23.59)	(24.29)
107	3,119	3,213	3,309	3,410	3,512	3,617	3,724	3,836	3,951	4,071	4,192	4,318	4,448
	(17.99)	(18.54)	(19.09)	(19.67)	(20.26)	(20.87)	(21.49)	(22.13)	(22.79)	(23.49)	(24.19)	(24.91)	(25.66)
108	3,299	3,399	3,499	3,606	3,714	3,825	3,939	4,058	4,180	4,307	4,433	4,566	4,704
	(19.03)	(19.61)	(20.19)	(20.80)	(21.43)	(22.07)	(22.73)	(23.41)	(24.12)	(24.85)	(25.58)	(26.34)	(27.14)
109	3,490	3,595	3,705	3,814	3,929	4,047	4,168	4,294	4,423	4,555	4,692	4,830	4,976
	(20.14)	(20.74)	(21.38)	(22)	(22.67)	(23.35)	(24.05)	(24.77)	(25.52)	(26.28)	(27.07)	(27.87)	(28.71)
110	3,697	3,810	3,925	4,043	4,164	4,288	4,417	4,549	4,686	4,825	4,969	5,119	5,271
	(21.33)	(21.98)	(22.64)	(23.33)	(24.02)	(24.74)	(25.48)	(26.24)	(27.04)	(27.84)	(28.67)	(29.53)	(30.41)
111	3,944	4,062	4,186	4,311	4,437	4,571	4,710	4,851	4,997	5,146	5,303	5,459	5,624
	(22.75)	(23.44)	(24.15)	(24.87)	(25.60)	(26.37)	(27.17)	(27.99)	(28.83)	(29.69)	(30.59)	(31.49)	(32.45)
112	4,396	4,529	4,664	4,804	4,948	5,095	5,250	5,404	5,567	5,734	5,906	6,084	6,267
	(25.36)	(26.13)	(26.91)	(27.72)	(28.55)	(29.39)	(30.29)	(31.18)	(32.12)	(33.08)	(34.07)	(35.10)	(36.16)
113	4,882	5,028	5,179	5,333	5,495	5,658	5,828	6,004	6,182	6,368	6,558	6,757	6,959
	(28.17)	(29.01)	(29.88)	(30.77)	(31.70)	(32.64)	(33.62)	(34.64)	(35.67)	(36.74)	(37.84)	(38.98)	(40.15)
114	5,403	5,566	5,732	5,905	6,083	6,266	6,454	6,646	6,848	7,050	7,262	7,481	7,706
	(31.17)	(32.11)	(33.07)	(34.07)	(35.09)	(36.15)	(37.24)	(38.34)	(39.51)	(40.67)	(41.90)	(43.16)	(44.46)
115	5,964	6,145	6,331	6,520	6,717	6,916	7,124	7,336	7,558	7,785	8,017	8,257	8,505
	(34.41)	(35.45)	(36.53)	(37.62)	(38.75)	(39.90)	(41.10)	(42.32)	(43.60)	(44.91)	(46.25)	(47.64)	(49.07)
116	6,566	6,766	6,970	7,178	7,393	7,615	7,842	8,078	8,319	8,571	8,826	9,093	9,362
	(37.88)	(39.04)	(40.21)	(41.41)	(42.65)	(43.93)	(45.24)	(46.60)	(48)	(49.45)	(50.92)	(52.46)	(54.01)
117	7,216	7,432	7,654	7,887	8,122	8,366	8,617	8,876	9,141	9,418	9,700	9,988	10,288
	(41.63)	(42.88)	(44.16)	(45.50)	(46.86)	(48.27)	(49.71)	(51.21)	(52.74)	(54.34)	(55.96)	(57.62)	(59.35)
118	7,912	8,150	8,395	8,646	8,906	9,174	9,448	9,731	10,023	10,324	10,633	10,952	11,281
	(45.65)	(47.02)	(48.43)	(49.88)	(51.38)	(52.93)	(54.51)	(56.14)	(57.83)	(59.56)	(61.35)	(63.19)	(65.08)
119	8,663	8,922	9,191	9,468	9,749	10,042	10,344	10,654	10,976	11,301	11,642	11,990	12,350
	(49.98)	(51.47)	(53.03)	(54.62)	(56.25)	(57.94)	(59.68)	(61.47)	(63.32)	(65.20)	(67.17)	(69.17)	(71.25)

Carpinteria Unified School District Classified Salary Schedule Effective 7/1/22*

120	9,469	9,750	10,045	10,346	10,657	10,978	11,305	11,646	11,994	12,352	12,724	13,105	13,499
	(54.63)	(56.25)	(57.95)	(59.69)	(61.48)	(63.34)	(65.22)	(67.19)	(69.20)	(71.26)	(73.41)	(75.61)	(77.88)
121	10,335	10,644	10,962	11,293	11,631	11,979	12,339	12,709	13,092	13,484	13,889	14,303	14,735
	(59.63)	(61.41)	(63.24)	(65.15)	(67.10)	(69.11)	(71.19)	(73.32)	(75.53)	(77.79)	(80.13)	(82.52)	(85.01)
122	11,266	11,603	11,950	12,307	12,679	13,059	13,451	13,856	14,270	14,698	15,139	15,593	16,059
	(65.00)	(66.94)	(68.94)	(71)	(73.15)	(75.34)	(77.60)	(79.94)	(82.33)	(84.80)	(87.34)	(89.96)	(92.65)
123	12,267	12,636	13,011	13,405	13,806	14,218	14,645	15,085	15,538	16,003	16,484	16,980	17,489
	(70.77)	(72.90)	(75.06)	(77.34)	(79.65)	(82.03)	(84.49)	(87.03)	(89.64)	(92.33)	(95.10)	(97.96)	(100.90)
124	13,342	13,742	14,154	14,579	15,016	15,469	15,929	16,410	16,899	17,406	17,931	18,468	19,022
	(76.97)	(79.28)	(81.66)	(84.11)	(86.63)	(89.25)	(91.90)	(94.67)	(97.50)	(100.42)	(103.45)	(106.55)	(109.74)

N	0	tes

1) **Bilingual Stipend -** A bilingual stipend shall be added to positions required to use a second language no less than twenty-five percent (25%) of the time and shall be

in the amount of three thousand dollars (\$3,000) annual and to be distributed monthly.

2) **Night Shift Differential -** A regular full-time employee whose assignment requires him/her to work more than four (4) hours per day after 5:00 P.M. on a regular basis shall

be entitled to a night shift differential in pay. Such differential shall be in the amount of 4-1/2% of his/her total regular salary for the period

during which he/she qualifies and is paid from October through June.

3) Career Increments - July 1 following year seven (7) of employment - three percent (3%) longevity increment

July 1 following year eleven (11) of employment - five percent (5%) longevity increment

July 1 following year fifteen (15) of employment - seven percent (7%) longevity increment

July 1 following year nineteen (19) of employment - nine percent (9%) longevity increment

July 1 following year twenty-three (23) of employment - eleven percent (11%) longevity increment

July 1 following year twenty-seven (27) of employment - thirteen percent (13%) longevity increment Effective 7/1/22

July 1 following year thirty-one (31) of employment - fifteen percent (15%) longevity increment Effective 7/1/22

The percentages are totals for that year and are not to be cumulative.

4) Govt. Code Sect. 20630, 20636 & 20636.1

In determining time base for each pay rate, positions can be either monthly or hourly depending on part time of full time status and nature of the

position. (Added 10/2013)

The Carpinteria Unified School District prohibits discrimination in employment, education programs, and activities on the basis of race, national origin, color, creed, religion, sex, age, disability, sexual orientation or gender identity.

^{*} Some cells modified effective 01/01/2023 for California Minimum wage increase from \$15 to \$15.50/hour.

APPENDIX D Carpinteria Unified School District Classified Employee Performance Appraisal

Evaluation Period	: From	To: Evaluation completed by:			
Name: Position:		☐ Ist Probationary ☐ Final Probationary ☐ Annual ☐ Special			
Please identify the factors which will be areas of Major Focus for the next review period with an (X) in the space below. Items which do not apply to this position identify with an (X) next to N/A.		It is important that you provide commentary about each area in the space below. Comments/Description/Details			
	Effective Not Effective				
1. QUALITY OF WORK PERFORMED a: Job knowledge b: Accuracy of work c: Neatness of work d: Thoroughness					
QUANTITY OF WORK N/A a: Volume of work produced N/A b: Meets schedules/deadlines	8 00				
3. WORK HABITS a: Dependability b: Punctuality c: Organizes work well d: Complies with rules, instructions, policies, safety regulations e: Able to work without immediate supervision	0000				
4. INTERPERSONAL SKILLS a: Interaction with co-workers b: Interaction with supervisor c: Interaction with students d: Interaction with parents e: Phone contacts					
5. PERSONAL QUALITIES a: Accepts Direction b: Accepts Changes c: Initiative d: Adaptability/flexibility c: Independence f: Uses good judgment g: Demonstrates an interest in job					
6. SUPERVISORY SKILLS (If Applicable) N/A a: Leadership N/A b: Fairness and impartiality N/A c: Decision making N/A d: Training and instruction N/A e: Planning and assigning N/A f: Supervisory control N/A g: Evaluating the performance of others N/A h: Productivity	0000000 0				
OVERALL RATING					
7. STRENGTHS/UNIQUE QUALITIES/ACHIEVEMENTS					
8. AREAS OF CONCERN/IMPROVEMENT NEEDED					
Signature of Employee DAT		Employee's Comments:			
Signature of Rater/Worksite Supervisor DAT	E				

Revision: 10/25/2013

*if you want to print this on Letter size paper, go File - Print, next to "Scale to paper size" choose letter